Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus

Y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth
Leol

Lleoliad: Cynulliad
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd Cenedlaethol
Cymru
Dyddiad: National
Dydd lau, 22 Tachwedd 2012 Vszslggﬂb'yfor

oy C7

| gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch a:

Polisi: Marc Wyn Jones

Clerc y Pwyllgor

029 2089 8505 / 029 2089 8600
pwyllgor.CCLII@cymru.gov.uk

Agenda

Cyfarfod cyn y cyfarfod ffurfiol - 9.15 - 9.30

1. Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon

2. Bil Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru): Cyfnod 1

- Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 (9:30-10:30) (Tudalennau 1 - 21)
Llais Defnyddwyr Cymru

Liz Withers, Pennaeth Polisi
Lowri Jackson, Rheolwr Polisi

3. Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y

cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y canlynol:
Eitemau 4,5 a 6

4. Ystyried y dystiolaeth ynghylch Bil Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig
Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru) (10:30-10:45)

Egwyl - 10.45 - 11.00



5. Bil Atal Twyll Tai Cymdeithasol: Memorandwm Cydsyniad

Deddfwriaethol (11:00 - 11.20) (Tudalennau 22 - 26)
Bil Atal Twyll Tai Cymdeithasol (Saesneg yn unig)

Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol - Bil Atal Twyll Tai Cymdeithasol (Saesneg
yn unig)

6. Blaenraglen Waith y Pwyllgor (11.20 - 11.30) (Tudalennau 27 - 33)

7. Papurau i'w nodi (Tudalennau 34 - 35)

CELG(4)-27-11 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a Threftadaeth yn dilyn
y cyfarfod ar 18 Hydref (Tudalennau 36 - 43)

CELG(4)-27-12 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
(Tudalennau 44 - 47)

CELG(4)-27-12 - Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a
Deddfwriaethol (Tudalennau 48 - 49)



Eitem 2

Llais Defnyddwyr Consumer Focus
Cymru Wales

Gwarchod Buddiannau Defnyddwyr Wales' Consumer Champion

Written evidence to the Communities, Equality and Local Government
November 2012

About us

Consumer Focus Wales is the independent statutory organisation campaigning for a
fair deal for consumers. We are the voice of the consumer and work to secure a fair
deal on their behalf. In campaigning on behalf of consumers we aim to influence
change and shape policy to better reflect their needs. We do this in an informed way
owing to the evidence we gather through research and our unique knowledge of
consumer issues.

We have a duty to be the voice of vulnerable consumers, particularly those on low
incomes, people with disabilities, people living in rural areas and older people. In
addition, we also seek to identify where other consumers may be disproportionately
disadvantaged by a particular consumer issue or policy.

Overview

Consumer Focus Wales welcomes the opportunity to submit written evidence to the
Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee to inform their scrutiny of
the Regulated Mobile Home Sites (Wales) Bill.

We strongly support many of the proposals in this Bill. In particular, we are pleased
to see that the Bill will:

e Remove the need for approval from a site operator for the sale of a mobile
home. We strongly support this

e Place a duty on local authorities to secure the effective implementation of the
new licensing regime and most importantly, to enforce site licence conditions

¢ Introduce a range of enforcement options, including improvement notices and
fixed penalties

¢ Introduce a fit and proper person test for site owners and managers
However, we would like to highlight some key areas of concern. For example:

e We are concerned that the Bill does not make it sufficiently clear how site
standards are to be improved, whether by new licence conditions, guidance
from Welsh Ministers, or via the new Code of Practice

e We are concerned that the Bill does not separate the site licence from the fit
and proper person test. We believe that this will be important in ensuring the
continued business viability of many sites

e We are disappointed to see that the requirement for local authorities to have
regard to the desirability of exercising powers of collaboration does not go

Tudalen 1 1



further. We do not believe that this provision will secure genuine collaborative
working and information sharing between local authorities

e We are very concerned that the Explanatory Memorandum states that “the
Residential Property Tribunal will have jurisdiction over all disputes related to
this Bill, aside from criminal prosecutions”. It is crucial that the Bill clarifies
whether applications to terminate written agreements will continue to be heard
in the courts

Crucially, much of the detail of the new licensing regime is lacking. While we
recognise that some of this detail will be provided through regulation, we are
concerned that, for example, the procedures for the proposed fit and proper person
test described here are extremely vague. It is also unclear in some parts of the Bill
where responsibilities for enforcement lie. With this in mind, the detail of our
response, including more background on our key concerns, is below.

Is there a need for a Bill to amend the arrangements for licensing and make
provision for the management and operation of regulated mobile home sites in
Wales?

In 2011, Consumer Focus Wales began a comprehensive and detailed piece of
research into the problems facing mobile home owners across Wales, which resulted
in more than 250 in-depth interviews with residents and a published report listed
almost 100 recommendations for change.

During our research, we also spoke to residents’ association representatives,
consulted with the caravan industry and site operators, and surveyed every local
authority in Wales as part of the project. Our work has resulted in a robust
examination of a multi-million pound industry and our findings demonstrate a real
need for a new residential site licensing regime, and reform of the management and
operation of these sites in Wales.

Nearly two thirds of residents who took part in our research told us that they had
experienced at least one problem on their site in the past five years. We found that a
quarter of respondents were dissatisfied with life on their site with an eighth of
residents telling us that they were very dissatisfied.

We heard over and over again from residents about their unhappiness about living
with poorly maintained common areas and their frustration at their site operator’s
inaction or their local authority’s inability to help.

A clear majority of respondents who reported a problem to their local authority said
that the response from the authority was ineffective. Many of them told us that this
was because either the local authority was unwilling to take action, they lacked the
time or resources to deal with the problem, or that the local authority was simply not
interested.

With this in mind, Consumer Focus Wales strongly believes that there is a clear and
desperate need for wholesale reform of the licensing and management of regulated
mobile homes sites.

Tudalen 2 2



In your view, will the licensing and enforcement regime established by the Bill
be suitable? If not, how does the Bill to need to change?

During the course of our research, Consumer Focus Wales found overwhelming
support for wholesale reform of the caravan site licensing regime. We know that
mobile home owners are often elderly, on a low fixed income, and vulnerable, due to
their status as home owners on someone else’s land. Yet time and time again
residents told us about their frustration at a system which has neither the resources
nor the powers to help them. With this in mind, we have outlined our concerns about
the Bill as it currently stands and submitted some recommendations below.

Part 2, Section 4: Collaborative discharge of functions

We are concerned that simply requiring local authorities to have regard to the
desirability of exercising powers of collaboration does not go far enough and will not
secure genuine collaborative working and information sharing between local
authorities.

We believe that Section 4 should establish a formal network of local authority leads
on regulated site licensing. This network should be required to meet regularly and
engage in effective communication, including the sharing of information about the
detail of fit and proper person tests and site licence breaches. We would recommend
the formalisation of regular meetings and clear communication networks to ensure
the effective sharing of best practice.

With only 92 sites in Wales, and seventeen local authority areas responsible for five
sites or fewer, we strongly recommend that the Bill requires local authorities to work
together effectively in the implementation and enforcement of the new licensing
regime.

This is because, while we agree that local authorities should retain their separate
licensing, inspection and enforcement regimes, more effective regional working
should be strongly encouraged and organised by a formal network of local authority
leads across Wales. We strongly believe that a more collaborative approach would
have the huge advantage of concentrating expertise and helping to ensure national
consistency and transparency for the new licensing regime.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 4 should be amended to establish a formal network of local authority
leads on regulated site licensing.

Part 2, Section 6: Applications for licences

We are concerned that the Bill does not make it sufficiently clear whether site
operators will be required to apply for a new licence under the draft Bill, or whether
they are exempt if they are already licence holders under the Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960 (the 1960 Act). We believe that this should be
clarified, and made clear that all site owners in Wales operating a regulated site
should be required to apply for a new licence as part of a new regime.

Tudalen 3 3




We are pleased to see that an application for a site licence will require applicants to
provide the name of both site owner and manager, as well as a standard written
statement for the site, a set of standard site rules, and evidence of consultation with
residents on these two documents.

We are also pleased to see that the Bill allows for local authorities to set a licence
application fee as we believe that providing local authorities with the necessary
resources to carry out new functions will be crucial to the success of the new regime.

We support the proposal for a nationally agreed fee structure, set by regulations,
and, following consultation with local authorities, we recommend that the site licence
fee be determined by the number of pitches allocated to a site in its planning
permission. This staggered approach would be fairer than a set ceiling, because
some sites have only a handful of pitches, while others are large.

We also agree that the Bill should require Welsh Ministers to set, by regulation, the
detail of the proposed fit and proper person test, because we recognise that
restricting local authorities to only one type of check, or only one set of standards,
could be considered short-sighted. We will be recommending that Welsh Ministers
include an enhanced CRB check and a Police National Database check as part of
these regulations.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 6 should be amended to ensure that all site owners are required to
apply for a new licence under the terms of new legislation.

Part 2, Section 7: Grant or refusal of licence

We are concerned that some rogue site operators, who may have had a licence
revoked in another part of the country, could reapply for a licence in Wales without
failing the fit and proper person test.

We therefore believe that the Bill should specify that an applicant should not have
not had a site licence revoked, or indeed, have failed a fit and proper person test (as
outlined in Section 9 of this Bill) in the previous five years.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 7 should be amended to ensure that the local authority is able to
refuse to grant a licence to an applicant who has had a site licence revoked, or has
failed a fit and proper person test (as outlined in Section 9 of this Bill) in the previous
five years.

Tudalen 4 4




Part 2, Section 8: Tests as to suitability for the stationing of mobile homes

As we highlight later in our response, we are concerned that there are a large
number of regulation and order-making powers which will be the responsibility of
Welsh Ministers after the Bill becomes law.

For example, we are concerned that the Bill requires Ministers to make regulations
which set standards for the stationing of a number of mobile homes. We believe that
this function could be carried out by the local planning authority without the need for
a new set of regulations. However, this must be done in collaboration with the
licensing authority and we would urge active consultation between different
departments. This is another example of where a formal network of leads would
facilitate joint working (please see our comments on Part 2, Section 4 of the Bill).

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 8 should be amended to give the responsibility for determining
whether a site is reasonably suitable for the stationing of a number of mobile homes
to the local planning authority in collaboration with the licensing authority.

Part 2, Section 10: Licence conditions

When we spoke to residents, we found that 62 per cent of respondents had
experienced at least one problem on their site in the past five years but by far the
most pressing concern for residents we talked to was the issue of site maintenance,
security or safety standards. 40 per cent of respondents told us that they had
experienced problems in this area and almost two fifths of residents we interviewed
did not agree that their site was attractive.

We welcome a requirement on licence holders to abide by the statutory implied
terms of the 1983 Act because this will enable local authorities to take action on
behalf of residents where previously they have been unable to help. However, we
would strongly recommend that the Bill is amended to ensure that not only do site
owners have to enforce site rules, but also to abide by the rules themselves.

This is because our research showed that some site operators are not abiding by
their own rules: in cases we have seen, some site operators are allowing underage
residents to move onto the park, or allowing new home owners to bring dogs to live
on the park, or renting out properties, when in all of these cases, residents who own
their own home would be breaking the rules if they were to sell to someone who
does not meet the rules.

Recommendation
Part 2, Section 10 (1) (b) should be amended to reflect the following change:
“to abide by and enforce any rules of the kind referred to in section 6(3)(b) above”

We welcome a requirement on licence holders to display the licence, the standard
written statement and the site rules in a public place. We would further recommend

Tudalen 5




that added to this list be copies of the main electricity and water bills (and mains gas1
if applicable) for the site (if the bills are paid through the site operator).

When Consumer Focus Wales asked residents about their energy supply, a majority
of respondents who had experienced problems with their electricity told us that they
had concerns around the costs and billing. One of the biggest problems we have
found is that almost all these respondents told us that they pay their electricity bills
through their site operator or manager upon receipt of an individual bill.

This can result in a lack of transparency over how electricity bills are calculated.
Many residents have told us that they are totally unaware of how their electricity bills
are calculated. Others have told us that they are not given the unit cost, only the
amount of units they have used, and a clear majority of residents who pay through
their site operator or manager told us that their site operator never makes the main
electricity bill available for residents to see. Residents also told us that they are
worried about the cost of their electricity. A significant number told us that they
considered their electricity charges to be unreasonable.

As an individual consumer with a direct relationship with a supplier, it is more
straightforward. The bill is received directly from the supplier, and consumers are
able to see what they have paid for and how much they have paid.

On a mobile home site, residents are often limited to the information made available
to them by the site operator and while residents are entitled to see a copy of the
main electricity or gas bill under existing Ofgem rules, we are aware of many cases
where site operators refuse to share the bill. In this situation, the only recourse for
the resident is to apply to the courts for a copy. If it were a site licence condition that
these bills have to be displayed, the local authority would be able to enforce this
instead.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in the area
of energy and fuel poverty in Chapter 5 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation
Part 2, Section 10 (1) (c) should be amended to add in the following amendment:

“(iv) any relevant utility bills, including for gas, electricity, water, sewerage or other
services supplied by the owner to pitches or to mobile homes”

We welcome the inclusion of a condition requiring a licence holder to refrain from
committing any act prohibited by section 3 of the 1968 Act because this will enable
local authorities to take action against the site operator for a breach of the licence
(which under Part 2, Section 3 of this Bill, they will be required to do).

However, we are concerned that the Bill does not require local authorities to include
further conditions appropriate for regulating the management, use and occupation of
a regulated site. We found during our research that there is a big variation in the
knowledge and expertise of different local authorities and our worry is that some

' We found that most sites in Wales are off the mains gas grid
? Extract taken from oral evidence given to the C LG Select Committee Inquiry on Park Homes,

Tudalen 6 6




local authorities will not proactively set high standards for the management of sites if
it is optional.

While we recognise that the Bill allows for Welsh Ministers to issue guidance on
these licence conditions (and it is not clear whether this guidance is intended to
replace the 2008 Model Standards) we are very concerned that this section on
licence conditions is not sufficiently robust and will not deliver improved site
standards, something we know is extremely important to mobile home residents.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 10 (2) should be amended to ensure that local authorities are
required to set appropriate standards for the best practice management of regulated
sites following guidance from Welsh Ministers.

Finally, we have seen a number of cases where local authorities have inadvertently,
through setting site licence conditions which are the responsibility of the site
operator, have made it possible for an unscrupulous site operator to pursue the
eviction of residents through the courts.

These cases have invariably been lost by the resident, who does not have the
money, the legal knowledge, or the self-confidence to fight an expensive court case,
and therefore finds himself suddenly homeless. Many of these cases have involved
elderly residents, who do not have the resources to start their lives again, and are
therefore especially vulnerable.

We would like the Bill to ensure that licence conditions cannot affect a home owner’s
right to sell their property by introducing a requirement for local authorities to
undertake a formal impact assessment in order to consider any unintended
consequences for residents when establishing new site licence conditions.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 10 should be amended to prevent local authorities from setting
licence conditions which affect a home owner's right to sell their property by
introducing a formal impact assessment procedure.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Part 2, Section 11: Licences — general requirements and duration

Consumer Focus Wales believes that while the site licence should be tied to the land
indefinitely, a renewable fit and proper person test should be undertaken every five
years as part of the conditions of holding a valid licence.

This arrangement would not only permit the movement of fit and proper person
certificate holders from one site to another and would allow greater flexibility, but
would also help to ensure stability for the business and encourage investment in the
site because of the separation between site licence and fit and proper person
certificate.

A time-limited licence is problematic because business strategies usually run for
more than five years, as do financial plans, and it is probable that banks would be

Tudalen 7 7




reluctant to lend money to a business that could be shut down every five years. In
addition, residents on a mobile home site have indefinite security of tenure which
begs the question: what happens to home owners if the site licence is revoked?

There are also other impacts on residents: the value of their homes might be
affected if a licence is revoked, and their ability to sell might be reduced if a
prospective purchaser thinks that the site might not continue to be licensed.

However, separating the licence (tied to the site itself) from the fit and proper person
test (tied to the owner/s and manager/s) would reflect the difference between the site
licence conditions, which should govern the facilities, equipment and safety
standards of a site, and the fit and proper person test, which looks at the
professional abilities and background of the site licence holder.

As a licensing regime, this would broadly reflect alcohol licensing where a personal
licence is separate from the licence that authorises the premises to be used for the
supply of alcohol. For this reason, we believe that while the fit and proper person test
should be undertaken every five years, the licence should simply be reviewed, not
terminated at the end of a specified or determined period of up to five years.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation
Part 2, Section 11 (5)(b) should be amended to reflect the following change:

“‘unless terminated by subsection (9) or revoked under section 13, continues in force
indefinitely, with a review of the licence conditions taking place at least every 5
years”

Part 2, Section 11 (6) (a) and (b) should be deleted.

Part 2, Section 12: Variation of licences

During the course of our research, we have found that some site operators are
using, at best, a loose interpretation of consultation when deciding to carry out work
or suggesting changes to contractual terms. Consumer Focus Wales believes that
the Bill should set out the way in which site operators should consult with residents
over any proposed changes, including, but not limited to, changes to written
statements, pitch fees, site rules, and site improvement works.

We recognise that the current wording of the Bill requires consultation on any
changes to the site rules with all occupiers on the site, as well as any qualifying
residents’ association and we welcome this commitment.

However, it is unclear as to who will be carrying out the consultation i.e. the site
owner, or the local authority, as well as how the consultation will be carried out. The
current wording implies that it will be the responsibility of the local authority to vary
the terms of the site rules and does not make reference to whether the site operator
is, under any circumstances, able to vary them.

We would seek clarification on whether the site operator is able to seek to amend the
site rules under any circumstances, and if so, how he or she would go about doing

Tudalen 8 8




so. In either case, we recommend that guidance should be issued on how
consultation should be carried out.

We also think that the local authority should have to demonstrate that they have
taken the results of their consultation into account when amending site rules. Finally
we are concerned that the Bill allows for changes to be made if “it appears to the
authority that a majority of the occupiers agree” which we think, as a decision making
tool, is too vague. We believe that this subsection should be reworded to clarify
responsibilities and processes.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 12 (3) should be amended to clarify roles, responsibilities and
procedures in the variation of the site rules referred to in Section 11 (2) (b).

Part 2, Section 13: Revocation of licences

Currently, local authorities are only able to ask a court to revoke a site licence after
the licence holder has been convicted for failing to comply with a licence condition on
at least three separate occasions.

We therefore welcome the decision to ensure that revocation of the site licence by
the local authority will no longer require prosecution through the courts because we
believe that this will make it easier for local authorities to take action in the event of
serious mismanagement, repeated breaches of licence conditions or the failure of a
fit and proper person test.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Part 2, Section 14: Register of licences

We are pleased to see that local authorities will be required to maintain a publicly
available list of site licences. However, we would like the Bill to ensure that not only
is the list made available for inspection, but copies of all the individual site licences,
as we do not believe that this is currently made clear.

This is because during our research, Consumer Focus Wales found that many
purchasers fail to obtain any legal advice, carry out a survey, or even do any
research about the site or the site operator before buying a mobile home. One
estimate puts the percentage of prospective buyers of park homes who take legal
advice at less than one per cent.

We have found that the implications of not doing this preparation work can be huge:
residents who are unaware of the terms and conditions of the contract they are
signing, or unaware of defects with the unit they are buying, can find themselves,
sometimes years down the line, embroiled in a lengthy and expensive court case,
even, in some instances, at risk of losing their home.

We firmly believe that potential mobile home buyers should be strongly encouraged
to seek specialist legal advice and conduct a survey of their prospective home before

Tudalen 9 9




making any decisions or spending any money. Making site licences readily available
so prospective purchasers can find out more about a site will be a vital part of raising
awareness and encouraging purchasers to make better consumer decisions.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 6 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 14 (2) (b) should be amended to clarify that not only should the list —
the “register” — of regulated site licences be made available, but so should copies of
the all the individual site licences.

Part 2, Section 18: Execution of works by the licensing authority

We welcome the proposal to give local authorities the power to serve notice in
writing requiring a licence holder to carry out works to comply with a site licence
condition. We know from our work with local authorities that they would welcome the
introduction of a range of enforcement tools, including notices for site licensing.
Many local authorities observed that prosecution does not improve standards, but
serves only to punish site operators.

Furthermore, our research showed us that in the most extreme cases of badly
managed sites, it can take months or even years to get the site operator to carry out
repairs, if he or she ever does. We therefore welcome the proposal to give local
authorities the power (as a last resort) to carry out any work to ensure compliance
with licence conditions.

However, it remains unclear in the Bill how local authorities will recover costs from
the licence holder. We believe that if this process is not made as straightforward as
possible, local authorities will not use the power to undertake work. We would
welcome more detail on how local authorities will be able to claim back costs owed
for works on a regulated site.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 18 should be amended to set out the process by which local
authorities will be able to claim back costs which are reasonably incurred in carrying
out necessary works.

Part 2, Section 20: Exercise of powers under sections 13 and 19

We welcome the decision to give qualifying residents’ associations the right to ask
their local authority to consider revoking a licence, or appointing an interim manager.
We believe that the Bill should require local authorities to share that decision with the
qualifying residents’ association and state clearly the reasons for that decision,
especially in the event that the local authority decides not to use their powers under
sections 13 and 19.

Tudalen 10 10




Recommendation

Part 2, Section 20 should be amended to require local authorities to share the
decision on any request made under Section 20 and state clearly the reasons for
that decision.

Part 2, Section 21: Power of entry of officers (etc.) of site licensing authorities

We believe that local authorities should be given the power to undertake
unannounced inspections as a matter of course. During the course of our research,
local authority officers explained that they currently have to give twenty four hours’
notice before an inspection, which can result in a false impression of the safety and
maintenance standards on a site, and they supported introducing unannounced
inspections.

For this reason we are disappointed to see that the Bill gives right of entry to officers
only if twenty four hours’ notice has been given to the owner. We strongly believe
that local authority officers should be able to inspect sites unannounced as this will
ensure an accurate picture of the standards on site and would be an approach in line
with enforcement powers in other areas of local regulation (for example, in the area
of food safety).

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 21 (1) should be amended to allow for unannounced site inspections.

We are also disappointed to see that the maximum fine, on summary conviction, for
wilfully obstructing an officer from entering a site will be only £2,500 (level 4 on the
standard scale). We know that the most unscrupulous site operators will not be
deterred by this relatively small level of fine and we strongly believe that the Bill
should create an ‘either way’ offence in this case, which would allow for an unlimited
fine of a figure decided by Crown Court.

Independent legal advice obtained by Consumer Focus Wales confirms that the
National Assembly has the power to set unlimited fines under Schedule 5 (2) (1) (b)
which allows an Assembly Measure to create a criminal offence whereby the
maximum sentence for conviction on indictment is two years. This means that the
National Assembly can create ‘either way’ offences (these are offences triable in
either the magistrates’ court or in the Crown Court) and Section 32 (1) of the
Criminal Law Act 1977 states that where a person is convicted on indictment of any
offence he shall be liable to an unlimited fine.

Consumer Focus Wales strongly urges the Committee to ensure that the threat to
rogue site operators is real and that local authorities know they have the support and
resources to take action if they need to. We therefore recommend that in those
cases where a site operator has wilfully obstructed an officer from entering onto a
regulated site, there should be the very real threat of unlimited fines.

Tudalen 11 11




We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 21 (6) should be amended to allow for unlimited fines.

Part 2, Section 22: Offences in relation to licensing of regulated sites

For the reasons listed above, we strongly recommend that offences under this Bill,
including operating without a licence, stationing more homes than authorised, or
breaching a site licence condition, should be punishable by the real threat of
unlimited fines.

We recognise that the Bill currently allows for both a summary conviction and
conviction on indictment (an ‘either way’ offence), but we strongly believe that the
preferred option should be conviction on indictment. We think it is important that the
threat to rogue site operators is real and that local authorities know they have the
support and resources to take action if they need to.

‘The only solution ... is to have a maximum fine of £250,000. After all
... some of these park operators, through their dealings ... make
£100,000 on the sale of a new home ... Make it really big. It is a simple
way of dealing with it, because it hits their pocket ... | just feel it is the
only answer and the only way to concentrate their minds. If it drives
them out of the business, [that’s] great stuff.’

(Site operator, England)?

We strongly believe that the current enforcement system is not fit for purpose, and
the threat of, and evidence of intent to issue a heavy fine should be a vital part of the
new regime. As you can read above, many good site operators support higher fines
as a deterrent to unscrupulous behaviour, and they recognise that this can only be a
good thing in driving out the rogue operators.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Part 2, Section 23: Fixed penalties

Consumer Focus Wales welcomes the move to give local authorities the power to
issue fixed penalty notices for a breach of site licence conditions. However, we
would caution that fixed penalties should only be used for minor breaches of a
licence as part of a graduated enforcement approach, alongside other enforcement
tools such as improvement notices. In the case of a serious breach of a site licence,
local authorities should be encouraged to prosecute through the courts.

? Extract taken from oral evidence given to the C LG Select Committee Inquiry on Park Homes,
Monday 5 March 2012, Ev10, Q62

Tudalen 12 12




Are the Bill’s proposals in relation to a fit and proper person test for site
owners and operators appropriate, and what will the implications be?

During our research, a huge number of residents told us that they wanted local
authorities to be able to run some kind of check on the site operator to ensure that
he or she was a suitable person to hold a site licence with the responsibilities that
entailed. Many felt that they had signed over their lives to somebody who did not
deserve to be in a position of authority. We also asked local authorities about this,
and they agreed that having a more detailed knowledge of site licence holders would
help them protect mobile home residents.

Consumer Focus Wales believes that the fit and proper person test for mobile home
site licensing should be proactive. We believe that without this there is a real danger
that any criminal element of the industry would not self-declare any convictions or
relevant information, and given the vulnerable nature of many residents on mobile
home sites, we are concerned that there is a real risk that rogue site operators could
slip through the net with potentially devastating consequences.

During our research, we asked residents about their relationship with their site
operator, and where applicable, their site manager. Many residents had a low
opinion of their site manager. Around a third of those with a site manager on site
disagreed that he or she was either approachable or honest and two fifths of these
residents told us that they did not think that their site manager was prompt to
address any issues.

The situation became starker when residents were asked about their site owner. 39
per cent disagreed that their site owner was approachable; 33 per cent disagreed
that their site operator was honest; and almost half did not think that their site
operator was prompt to address any issues. With this in mind, we have outlined our
concerns and submitted some recommendations below.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Part 2, Section 9: Tests for fithess etc. and satisfactory management
arrangements

We are pleased to see that the Bill will require all site owners and managers to
undergo a fit and proper person test, and that it will enable the local authority to take
into account the actions of any person associated or formerly associated with the
applicant.

However, as discussed above, under Part 2, Section 11, we believe that the fit and
proper person test should be renewable and undertaken every five years (or sooner
if the local authority receives relevant information to warrant action) as part of the
conditions of holding a valid licence, which should be reviewed, not renewed, at the
same time.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 9 should be amended to require a new fit and proper person testto be
carried out at least every five years (or sooner if appropriate).

Tudalen 13 13




However, we are concerned that the detail of this test remains vague. It is unclear
how the local authority will obtain the evidence to show that an applicant fails this
test. While we recognise that it is not always appropriate to name specific processes
on the face of the Bill, we would welcome more detail about how local authorities will
gather this evidence when deciding if an applicant is a fit and proper person: for
example, we would welcome a commitment to carrying out a full enhanced
background check on all applicants.

Knowing how and what information is being used to determine an applicant’s fit and
proper person status will be vital when holding local authorities to account on the
delivery of their responsibilities under any new regime.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 4 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 9 should be amended to clarify how exactly a local authority is
expected to carry out a fit and proper person test.

For example, when considering whether an applicant has a “sufficient level of
competence” to be involved in the management of a site (sub-section 5) we would
recommend that a requirement of the fit and proper person test for regulated site
licence holders should be to hold an accredited qualification.

We believe that this could contribute towards a more professional mobile homes
industry with an improved training and qualifications structure. We recommend that
an accredited national Welsh qualification be developed for residential site
management (in collaboration between the Welsh Government and the industry)
which could either be offered online or as a low cost day training course at
Government approved training providers and adult learning colleges.

We believe that a nationally accredited Welsh qualification as part of the fit and
proper person test would help to ensure that licence holders, including both site
owners and managers, become fully aware of mobile homes and site licensing law
and the wider social responsibilities around managing a site.

A more professional mobile home sector would not only better protect vulnerable
consumers, but proactively encourage site managers and operators to learn more
about the laws and regulations governing their work. Most importantly, it would go
some way towards ridding the sector of the most unscrupulous site operators.

This is important because Consumer Focus Wales has found that many residents
are unhappy, not because their site operator is behaving in a criminal way, but
because in some cases, site owners and managers simply do not fully understand
their obligations and responsibilities.

We believe that site operators would certainly benefit from specific training and
education about their new requirements as part of any new regime. This should be
made available alongside ongoing advice and guidance from local authorities as part
of a more effective licensing regime.

Tudalen 14 14




In an example from another industry, it is a requirement of the Licensing Act 2003
that individuals who wish to supply, or to authorise the supply of alcohol, must
undergo an accredited qualification before applying for a personal licence.

We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for change in this area
in Chapter 6 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Recommendation

Part 2, Section 9 (5) should be amended to require applicants to hold an accredited
national Welsh qualification as part of the fit and proper person test.

Are the amendments to the contractual relationship between mobile home
owners and site owners which would result from the Bill appropriate? If not,
how does the Bill need to change?

Our research uncovered substantial evidence of sale blocking. We found that the
existing legislation offers huge potential for financial gain; for example, a site
operator who obtains an older mobile home from a departing resident, demolishes it
and replaces it with a brand new unit can make a six figure sum in just one
successful sale blocking incident.

We have seen cases in which mobile home residents have sold their homes to an
unscrupulous site operator for a fraction of its market value. For example, one home
owner told us how she received just £2,000 from her site operator for her home,
which was valued at £110,000.

Another couple paid £150,000 for a brand new home, which they sold back to their
site operator within two years for just £35,000, following allegations of sale blocking.
In many cases we have seen, this often represented the life savings, or the only
financial asset of the elderly residents involved, who do not have the resources to
start their lives again, and are made especially vulnerable.

In Wales, our research found that 41 per cent of respondents did not feel that people
on their site were able to sell their homes freely and without interference if they
chose to leave. We found that many victims of sale blocking were extremely
reluctant to speak to us, citing fear of reprisal.

Chapter 1 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’, gives more detail about the evidence of
sale blocking we uncovered, and provides detailed case studies showing the effect
of this veto on the lives of thousands of residents in Wales.

Furthermore, a number of residents told us that they thought their contractual terms
were unjust: a fifth of respondents told us that they didn’t think their written statement
was fair and reasonable and a third did not think their pitch fees were fair and
reasonable. With this in mind, we have outlined our concerns and submitted some
recommendations below.

Schedule 1, Amendment 4 (2)

Consumer Focus Wales strongly welcomes the removal of the need for a site
operator to approve the sale of a mobile home. We believe that this change to the
law will make a real difference to thousands of lives and we are delighted to see its

Tudalen 15 15




inclusion in the Bill. We have talked about our findings and our recommendations for
change on sale blocking in Chapter 1 of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Schedule 1, Amendment 6 (2)

We welcome the decision to prevent a site owner from passing on any costs incurred
under Part 2 of the Bill.

Schedule 1, Amendment 7 (2)

Because state pensions and benefits are linked to the consumer prices index (the
CPI), we suggest that it would be fairer if pitch fee increases were also linked to the
CPI, given that many home owners are retired and therefore on a low fixed income.
We therefore welcome the proposal to link future pitch fee changes to the CPI.

Schedule 1, Amendment 9

Currently, if a mobile home has more than one occupier, only the resident whose
name appears first on the written statement is entitled to vote at meetings of a
qualifying residents’ association. Because we believe that this can exclude women,
who are often named second on an agreement, from being able to vote as a member
of a residents’ association, we recommend that new legislation amend these rules to
ensure that any occupier of a mobile can use the household’s vote.

Recommendation
Schedule 1, Amendment 9
Paragraph 28 should be amended to reflect the following change:

“(2) When calculating the percentage of occupiers for the purpose of sub-paragraph
(1)(b) above, each mobile home shall be taken to have only one occupier.”

In your view, how will the Bill change the requirements on site
owners/operators, and what impact will such changes have, if any?

Consumer Focus Wales believes that effective reform of the mobile homes industry
can only benefit good site owners and managers. We have seen the terrible effect of
rogue site operators on the reputation of vital industry which provides affordable
housing to thousands of people in Wales. With this in mind, we have outlined our
concerns and submitted some recommendations below.

Part 4, Section 28: Approval of codes of practice with regard to the
management of regulated sites

The Bill introduces the power for Welsh Ministers to approve a code practice with
regard to the management of regulated sites in Wales. However, it is unclear what
the purpose of this code of practice will be, and how it will be enforced, as a failure to
comply will not make a person liable to any civil or criminal proceedings.

We are keen to see site operators provided with robust guidance on how they should
practice site management (for example, the processes by which they should consult
with residents over site improvements, or pitch fee rises), but we also think that they
should be required to follow it.

Tudalen 16 16




Recommendation

Part 4, Section 28 (5): should be amended to ensure that failure to comply with any
code of practice is an offence.

Part 4, Section 29: Management regulations in respect of regulated sites

The Bill will require Welsh Ministers to issue regulations on the management of sites.
Again, it is unclear what these regulations will add to the existing ability of local
authorities to set licence conditions, and the ability of Welsh Ministers to give
guidance as to the form and content of these conditions (which we take to replace
the 2008 Model Standards, although we would welcome clarification on this).

For example, Part 2, Section 10 (2) of the Bill allows for site licence conditions to
regulate the management of the regulated site, yet Part 4, Section 29 requires Welsh
Ministers to set regulations ensuring satisfactory management arrangements for the
site.

We are pleased to see that the Bill allows for a duty to be placed on the manager of
a site (although it is unclear what meaning ‘manager’ has in this context, whether site
owner or an employee: we would recommend that the Bill makes provision for duties
to be placed on both) in respect of the repair, maintenance, cleanliness and good
order of the site, but we would welcome further detail on how the enforcement of site
licence conditions by the local authority interacts with new regulations on satisfactory
management arrangements.

Furthermore, it is unclear who will be responsible for enforcing these regulations: will
it be the responsibility of the local authority or individual residents to bring a case
against site operators under these new arrangements?

Finally, the Bill creates an offence of failing to comply with these regulations with a
maximum fine of £5,000, but Consumer Focus Wales recommends that (as with
breaches of a site licence) the Bill should allow for the more effective deterrent of an
‘either way’ offence. We believe that this is extremely important; the threat of
unlimited fines must be real to deter the worst operators.

Recommendation

Part 4, Section 29 should be amended to allow for unlimited fines.

Part 4, Section 30: Qualifying residents’ associations

We welcome proposals to allow the membership list of a residents’ association to be
lodged with the local authority and to remain confidential. However, we do
recommend that the contact details of at least one executive member of the
association (i.e. the Chair, Secretary or Treasurer) be made freely available so that
the site owner and prospective mobile home buyers are able to contact that person.

Recommendation

Part 4, Section 30 should be amended to allow for the contact details of at least one
member of the residents’ association to be publicly available.

Tudalen 17 17




Do you agree that the Residential Property Tribunal should have jurisdiction to
deal with all disputes relating to this Bill, aside from criminal prosecutions?

When Consumer Focus Wales talked to local authorities about the proposed transfer
of jurisdiction over licensing matters to the Residential Property Tribunal, licensing
officers told us that while they agreed that home owners should be able to go to the
Tribunal for dispute resolution, they were concerned about jurisdiction over site
licensing passing to the Tribunal.

Licensing officers agreed that there could be a role for both but they said that local
authorities should retain the right to take site owners to court. We agree with this,
and we support proposals to allow local authorities a range of options.

However, Consumer Focus Wales believes that, as a matter of urgency, it should be
made clear whether applications for termination of an agreement by the site operator
will remain a matter for the courts, because of the serious nature of evicting
somebody from their home.

We are concerned that there could be some confusion over this, given that the
Explanatory Memorandum states that “the RPT (the Residential Property Tribunal)
will have jurisdiction over all disputes related to this Bill, aside from criminal
prosecutions” (118, p28) and we would welcome further clarification, either in the Bill,
or in the accompanying notes.

While we agree that in theory, the Residential Property Tribunal Service should offer
a low-cost and accessible method of resolving disputes, we remain very concerned
about the capacity of the Tribunal to deliver effectively in the best interests of both
residents and site operators.

For example, in practice, it is currently difficult for residents to find out information
about the Tribunal: they do not currently have a website, and neither do they publish
cases or information for residents or site operators about how to open an application.
This could help to explain why the Tribunal in Wales has seen so few cases
compared to the Tribunal in England. Certainly from discussions with residents, we
know that awareness of the Tribunal and its powers is currently very low in Wales.

We believe that as a matter of urgency, the Tribunal should establish transparent
reporting procedures, publish a clear and accessible website with detailed guidance
for residents and site operators, and ensure that through regular, mobile homes
specific legal training, they are able to offer well informed Tribunal members who are
able to use their expertise to take fair decisions.

Finally, we are concerned that in England, we have been told that some site
operators are refusing to acknowledge the rulings of the Tribunal. We therefore
recommend that refusal to comply with a Tribunal decision should be a serious
breach of the licence conditions and therefore an offence under Part 2, Section 22
(3) of this Bill. Non-compliance with a Tribunal ruling, including the non-payment of
any damages awarded, should also be taken into account when considering whether
the site operator remains a fit and proper person under Part 2, Section 9 of this Bill.

We have given a great deal more detail about our findings in this area in Chapter 6
of our policy report, ‘Park Life’.

Tudalen 18 18



Recommendations

Part 2, Section 9 should allow for non-compliance with a Tribunal decision to affect
the fit and proper person status of a licence holder

Guidance issued by Welsh Ministers should allow for non-compliance with a Tribunal
decision to be considered a breach of licence conditions

What are the potential barriers to implementing the provisions of the Bill (if
any) and does the Bill take account of them?

We are very concerned that the large number of regulations provided for in the Bill
may present a significant barrier to the implementation of the Bill. There are fourteen
regulation and order-making powers in this Bill and two sets of guidance.

While we recognise that much of the detail of this reform is not suited to the face of
the Bill, we are concerned about the capacity of Welsh Ministers to enact much of
the detail which lies underneath the primary legislation, particularly given the
proposed Housing Bill which is due to be laid in 2013.

We will be seeking to work with Welsh Government and Assembly Members to find
ways of ensuring that the effective delivery of the final Bill is not held back by the
sheer volume of secondary legislation needed to enact its provisions.

Additional concerns not addressed within the draft Bill
Indirect sale blocking

Given the severity in nature of some of the experiences of which we have evidence,
we believe there is a necessity for the site operator veto to be removed and for an
offence to be created of indirect sale blocking. Such an offence should include the
intimidation and harassment of sellers and potential buyers.

This is important because, while removing the right to veto would be a massive step
in the right direction, we also know that unscrupulous site operators are using a
variety of methods to block sales. We have seen several residents lose a sale
because the site operator has deliberately obstructed or hindered the work of estate
agents or has intimidated potential buyers. Again, we have seen residents lose
thousands upon thousands of pounds through this form of indirect sale blocking.

Recommendation

We recommend the creation of a criminal offence of indirect sale blocking.

Access to inspection reports

We believe that copies of local authority inspection reports should be made available
to residents. A copy should be sent automatically to any qualified residents’
association and made available online. This will be important to help provide
information to potential residents and it will act as a deterrent to the site operator.

A copy of the site licence with any attached unresolved enforcement notices should
also be publically available for people to view before choosing to live on the site. We
believe that these documents should be available on request from the local authority
by phone or by post without being subject to a formal information request.

Tudalen 19 19




We think that making this information freely available would help to improve
communication and build trust between residents and local authorities and
demonstrate transparency and openness by ensuring residents know that local
authority officers are taking action where appropriate.

We also believe, as we have highlighted above, that prospective purchasers should
be strongly encouraged to seek specialist legal advice, conduct some background
research and commission a survey of their prospective home before making any
decisions or spending any money, and that making inspection and enforcement
reports available will help them make informed consumer choices.

Recommendation

We recommend that inspection reports and enforcement notices are made readily
available to download or ask for by phone or post without a formal request.

Changes to written agreements under assignation

There should be no distinction between the rights and protections enjoyed by a
home owner who has purchased directly from the site operator and home owner who
has bought directly from another resident and consequently has had their written
statement assigned to them.

A home owner who has had their written statement assigned (when a home owner
buys their home in a private sale from another resident, as opposed to buying from
the site operator, which results in a brand new contract) should be able to delete,
vary, or add an express term within the first six months of taking ownership. Equally
the site operator should also be able to ask the Tribunal to alter the express terms of
the written statement within six months should they wish to do so.

Recommendation

We recommend that the window for changes approved by the Residential Property
Tribunal in written agreements should apply to resident sales (assignments) as well
as new agreements made between site operators and mobile home buyers.

Clarification of a site operator’s maintenance and repair obligations

Current legislation allows site operators to pass on the costs of “improvements” to
residents through a pitch fee increase. The meaning of improvements or the method
of consultation is not made clear. The site operator’s obligation to keep the site in
repair and well maintained should be clarified and the costs of doing so should not
be included in any pitch fee review.

Consumer Focus Wales believes that the site operator’'s maintenance and repairing
obligations would benefit from clarification. We firmly believe that without effective
consultation with residents, or, alternatively, a Tribunal decision, the site operator
should not have the ability to recover costs from “improvement works”.

Recommendation

We recommend that the site operator’s maintenance and repairing obligations
should be further clarified by the Bill.

Tudalen 20 20




Further information

Our full report and an executive summary document are both available to download
from www.consumerfocus.org.uk/wales. Alternatively, please contact us by calling
029 2078 7100 or email contactwales@consumerfocus.org.uk to request a copy.

Lowri Jackson
Policy Manager

02920 787108
Lowri.Jackson@consumerfocus.org.uk

Consumer Focus Wales
Portcullis House

21 Cowbridge Road East
Cardiff, CF11 9AD

Tudalen 21 21



Eitem 5

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen 22



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen 24



Eitem 6

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen 27



Eitem 7

Y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth

Leol

Lleoliad: Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - y Senedd Cynulliad
Cenedlaethol
Cymru

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 14 Tachwedd 2012 .
National
Assembly for

Amser: 09:30 - 11:00 Wales

Gellir gwylio’r cyfarfod ar Senedd TV yn: i/
http:/ /www.senedd.tv/archiveplayer.jsf2v=en_300000_14_11_2012&t=0&I=en

Cofnodion Cryno:

Aelodau’r Cynulliad:

Ann Jones (Cadeirydd)
Janet Finch-Saunders
Mike Hedges

Mark Isherwood

Gwyn R Price

Ken Skates

Rhodri Glyn Thomas
Joyce Watson

Lindsay Whittle

Kirsty Williams

Tystion:

Peter Black, Comisiynydd
Jonathan Baxter

Staff y Pwyllgor:

Helen Finlayson (Clerc)

Claire Griffiths (Dirprwy Glerc)

Lisa Salkeld (Cynghorydd Cyfreithiol)
Hannah Johnson (Ymchwilydd)

1. Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon
1.1 Cafwyd ymddiheuriadau gan Peter Black. Dirprwyodd Kirsty Williams ar ei ran.

2. Bil Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru): Cyfnod 1 -

Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1

Tudalen 34



2.1 Croesawodd y Cadeirydd Peter Black AC yn ei rol fel yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifol am vy Bil
Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru).

2.2 Cymerodd y Pwyllgor dystiolaeth gan yr Aelod sy’n Gyfrifol am y Bil.

2.3 Cytunodd yr Aelod sy’n Gyfrifol am y Bil i ddarparu nodyn i’r Pwyllgor ar y
darpariaethau ar filiau cyfleustodau yn Neddf Cartrefi Symudol 1983 a sut y bydd y Bil
Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru) yn effeithio ar y darpariaethau
hynny.

3. Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y

cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y canlynol:
3.1 Cytunodd y Pwyllgor ar y cynnig.

4. Ystyried y Dystiolaeth ar y Bil Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi
Symudol (Cymru)

5.
4.1 Trafododd y Pwyllgor y dystiolaeth a gafwyd yn gynharach mewn perthynas a’r Bil
Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru).

6. Papurau i'w nodi
5.1 Nodwyd y papurau.

6.1 CELG(4)-26-12 Papur 1 - Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid ynghylch y Bil
Safloedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru)

TRAWSGRIFIAD

Trawsgrifiad o’r cyfarfod

Tudalen 35



Eitem 7a

Huw Lewis AC / AM '\/ (\f

Y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a Threftadaeth i
Minister for Housing, Regeneration and Heritage J}

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Ein cyf/Our ref: SF/HL/3084/12

Ann Jones AM

Chair

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee

National Assembly for Wales

Cardiff Bay

CF99 1NA 13 November 2012

Dear Ann

At my appearance at the Communities, Equality and Local Government committee meeting on
the 18™ October | committed to respond on a number of issues and to answer a number of
additional questions.

The requested information is provided below.

The full list of performance indicators for Sport Wales

The 2012-13 Remit Letter states that Sport Wales’ performance will be measured by its
progress against the following outcomes and performance indicators in the Programme
for Government:

Outcome Indicators

o % of people participating in sport or active recreation
o % of adults actively involved in volunteering in sport (including coaching)

Key Performance Measures
o Number of free public swims and number of free structured aquatic activities made by
children and young people aged 16 and under, and those aged 60 and over.

o Number of adults actively involved in coaching and volunteering.

A note on what land has been released by the Government for public housing since the
elections

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
ﬁ-‘ 36 Correspondence.huw.lewis@wales.gsi.gov.uk
Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i allgylch Printed on 100% recycled paper



The land sites released since May 2011 are listed in the table below.

. Exchanged and/ or Homes delivered /

Site To who .
completed Anticipated

Vaynor, Newtown, | Exchanged and Mid Wales On site constructing 55

Powys completed in February | Housing affordable homes
2011

Factory Road, Exchanged and Melin Homes | On site constructing 40

Blaenau Gwent completed affordable homes

Caerphilly’s Completed on 31%' July | United Welsh | Not on site - 60

Miners, Caerphilly | 2012 HA & Lovells | affordable homes and 20

for open open market housing is
market anticipated
housing

Croes Atti, Option entered into on Anwyl Not on site — anticipated

Flintshire 15" August 2012 Construction | affordable homes 28

Pirelli Exchanged in Fairlake Not on site — 120
September 2011 anticipated affordable

homes.

Brackla, Bridgend | Exchanged, completion | Linc Cymru Not on site — anticipated
subject to planning affordable homes 96
permission

Ely Farm, Cardiff | Exchanged, completion | Cadwyn HA Not on site — anticipated
subject to planning affordable homes 57
permission

Aston Mead, Exchanged, completion | Pennaf HA Not on site — anticipated

Flintshire subject to planning affordable homes 22
permission

OTHER PUBLIC SECTOR SITES

Aberbargoed Exchanged and United Welsh | Not on site — 23

Hospital, Welsh completed in January HA affordable homes

Health Estates 2011 anticipated

Canton Health Exchanged and Taff HA Not on site — 14

Centre, Welsh completed in July 2012 affordable homes

Health Estates anticipated

Blaina Hospital, Exchanged and United Welsh | Not on site - 21

Welsh Health completed in October HA affordable homes

Estates 2012 anticipated

Land at New Inn, | Exchanged, completion | Melin HA Not on site - 10

Welsh Health subject to planning affordable homes

Estates permission anticipated

Provide information on the equality impact assessment that was carried out on the disabled
housing grants

This information is not held by the Welsh Government. It is for local authorities to determine
how they use the overall General Capital Funding (GCF) settlement to meet their statutory
duties and responsibilities.

Tudalen 37



A note on how much funding each local authority receives and is spent (including historical
spend) on the disabled facilities grants.

The Budget Expenditure Line for Housing General Support capital budget is the notional
housing element of the overall GCF settlement for local authorities. This funding is
unhypothecated.

DFGs are mandatory, demand-led grants. Local authorities have a statutory duty to provide
them and, generally, fund them from the unhypothecated GCF budget. The latest available
figures on spending on DFGs for 2010-11 indicate that local authorities across Wales spent
almost £35 million. The Welsh Government does not allocate specific resources for DFGs and
does not hold details of likely spend.

| enclose details on historic spend as an annex.

Last year your officials said that an additional £10 to £15 million should be available annually
for sports and the arts from post-Olympic Lottery funding after 2013. Do you still expect the
funding to become available? If so, can you update us on the work that you have been doing
to prepare for this?

The revised DCMS income projection issued in February this year suggests that Arts Council
Wales and Sport Wales between them will have approximately £15m more available for
distribution in the 13/14 financial year than they had in the 10/11 financial year. This is due to
various factors. They include:

Increased Lottery ticket sales.

Lottery distributors’ contributions to the construction of the Olympic Park have now ended.
The increased share of Lottery proceeds now going to Arts and Sport.

Sales of dedicated Olympic scratchcards have also finished.

All Lottery distributors will benefit from any funds remaining in the Olympic Lottery Distribution
Fund (OLDF) after the Games and will also benefit from over £69 million of Olympic village
sales receipts, expected in 2014. It is too early to give an estimate of the closing balance in the
OLDF. There is still work to do in fitting out the Olympic Village for sale. It was set out in the
2007 Memorandum of Understanding that Lottery distributors would receive back their share of
the additional £675 million contribution to the Olympics from land sales pro-rata to their original
contribution (ACW = £4.5m and SCW = £4.1m) and it has always been made clear that the
timescale for development of the Olympic Park, dependent as it is on market performance,
means that these payments will be in the longer term. Current estimates are that the Lottery
should start to receive payments in the mid-2020s.

What specific projects in Wales do you expect to benefit from this extra resource and what
allocations have you made in your budget to ensure that the impact of this additional resource
can be maximised in Wales?

The additional Lottery funding that Sport Wales will receive will be invested in programmes
and activities to support the implementation of the Community Sport Strategy and the Elite
Sport Strategy. This includes a new fund, Calls for Action, which will support projects that
deliver the outcomes of the Community Sport Strategy. Projects will be supported with funds
of between £50,000 and £150,000 and to make a positive impact on priority areas such as:

e Children and young people living in poverty;
e Women and girls, BME and disability;

e Multi-sport opportunities (for exaﬁfaeafg}]]a%ation across sports);



o Key age groups — 14 to 24 year olds;
e Getting adults back into sport;
¢ Demonstrate a significant step change in provision — from the 100’s to the 1000’s.

A major element of the additional Lottery funding that the Arts Council of Wales will receive will
be invested in capital projects. ACW has recently implemented a new Lottery Capital Strategy
and Funding programme. There are seven main priorities underpinning this ACW’s new
programme:

1. Developing the infrastructure — helping key organisations to realise the potential of their
facilities.

2. Completing the infrastructure — addressing geographical and cultural gaps in national arts
provision.

3. Maintaining the standard of the infrastructure — investing in existing facilities and venues to
help keep them up to standard

4. Improving viability and sustainability — investing in entrepreneurial and commercial capital
initiatives, aimed at increasing income and reducing costs.

5. Regeneration — supporting creative projects which are part of regeneration programmes.

6. Equipping the arts to thrive —helping organisations to have the right tools for the creative
challenges that they’ve set.

7. Encouraging exemplary public art projects — incorporating public art strategies into building
projects, (but also individually commissioned pieces of public art).

ACW will also make Lottery funds available to fund specific time limited projects of high quality,
which best meet its priorities, for example through:

training grants;

small grants;

research and development grants; and

‘Creative Wales Awards’ - to recognise achievement, and enable individual artists to
develop their creative practice.

Priorities for 2013 for non-capital Lottery grants are likely to include projects which support the
ACW'’s 4 key priorities. These are:

Supporting the creation of great art.

Encouraging more people to enjoy and take part in the arts.
Growing the arts economy.

Developing the effectiveness and efficiency of arts organisations.

The total ‘Regeneration’ Action sees a reduction of £5 million (-7.1%) between 2012-13 and
2013-14. Can you explain the reason for this reduction and outline the likely effect it will have
on the direct outputs that can be achieved by your department’s regeneration activities?

The reduction comprises two elements. First, a transfer of £1.8m revenue to support the
financing costs of increased investment in social housing (part of the £4m total budget
allocation). | see this as having a significant regeneration benefits, both through the economic
benefits of the investment in terms of jobs, training and opportunities for local businesses, and
the enhanced sense of place and better quality of life that the investment will deliver.

Second, there is a reduction of £3.2m in the capital budget as a consequence of the reduction
in capital budgets generally, as a result of the budget settlement from the UK Government. We
have been able to elongate capital programmes to deliver the same level of investment over a
longer time period, but this has inevitably resulted in a delay in releasing funding for new
priorities.

Tudalen 39



Your paper states that the Welsh Government’s reqeneration programme aims to ‘reverse the
decline of disadvantaged areas in Wales and deliver sustainable renewal’. How confident are
you that these aims will be achieved given the planned reductions in allocations on
regeneration?

It is important to bear in mind that regeneration is a whole-Government activity. | see my
regeneration budget not in isolation, but as additional investment over and above that available
from mainstream budgets such as health and education. This is view is reinforced in our
regeneration framework consultation document, ‘Vibrant and Viable Places’, which sets out
how we intend to achieve integration and prioritisation, in particular on a regional basis, and
deliver against a new set of national outcomes. | would welcome the Committee’s views on the
proposals set out in the document, which can be found at:
http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/businessandeconomy/vvp/?lang=en

I hope that the information above is helpful. Please do let me know if | can be of further
assistance at this time.

P,

Huw Lewis AC /| AM
Y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a Threftadaeth
Minister for Housing, Regeneration and Heritage

Tudalen 40



Annex 1

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants

Information on Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) is collected and published annually by the
Welsh Government in order to monitor the effectiveness of current policy, particularly progress
against the National Housing Strategy objectives and for future policy development. This
information helps provide a picture of the number and types of Disabled Facilities Grants and
the costs of adaptations at a local and national level. The Welsh Government local government
finance department uses data on Disabled Facilities Grants in its local government settlement
calculations and local authorities use the information for a number of reasons, including
strategic planning for housing and completing Local Housing Market Assessments.

Summary

Both the number and the total value of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs), fell
between 2008-09 and 2009-10 but have since been increasing. Latest figures for 2010-11
show that 4,398 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs), with a total value of £35.1
(r) million, were completed by local authorities in Wales.

This was an increase of 6 per cent (r) on the £33.2 (r) million spent on delivering 4,170 (r)
DFGs in 2009-10 but was still down by 2 per cent on the £35.7 million spent during 2008-
09 (Table 1) (Chart 1).

Whilst overall spending on Mandatory DFGs increased between 2009-10 and 2010-11,
this was not the case across all authorities.

In some authorities such as Flintshire and Bridgend the decreases were quite large
(down by 29 per cent and 26 per cent respectively), whilst in other authorities, such as
Newport and Neath Port Talbot the amount spent on DFGs more than doubled between
2009-10 and 2010-11. This represents a stark contrast to 2009-10 when Newport and
Neath Port Talbot reported the most significant decreases in expenditure compared with
2008-09.

Tudalen 41



Table 1 — Value of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants completed, 2008-09, 2009-10
and 2010-11 under the 1996 Act (a)(b)

Percentage Percentage
change in change in

expenditure expenditure
. . between 2008-9 between 2009-10

Expenditure in: and 2009-10 and 2010-11

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11
(£ (£ (£
thousands) thousands) thousands) (per cent) (per cent)

Isle of Anglesey 485 687 690 42 1
Gwynedd 781 724 942 -7 30
Conwy 1,787 1,552 1,390 -13 -10
Denbighshire 934 1,046 954 12 9
Flintshire 2,137 2,747 1,958 29 -29
Wrexham 1,429 1,015 (r) 870 -29 -14
Powys 937 787 1,088 -16 38
Ceredigion 1,117 1,063 1,342 -5 26
Pembrokeshire 827 1,067 1,074 29 1
Carmarthenshire 1,263 1,836 1,623 45 -12
Swansea 3,119 2,907 4,213 -7 45
Neath Port Talbot 2,238 1,180 2,474 -47 110
Bridgend 2,583 2,636 1,952 2 -26
The Vale of Glamorgan 1708 1.637 1,784 -4 9
Cardiff 5176 4,266 4,210 (r) -18 -
Rhondda Cynon Taf 3,359 3,135 3,341 -7 7
Merthyr Tydfil 625 654 561 5 -14
Caerphilly 1,228 1,025 1,127 -17 10
Blaenau Gwent 900 944 937 5 -1
Torfaen 1,252 1,245 967 -1 -22
Monmouthshire 332 524 477 58 -9
Newport 1,491 515 1,096 -65 113
Wales 35,708 33,191 (r) 35,070 (r) -7 6

Source: Disabled Facility Grants return

(a) Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

(b) Only includes expenditure on completed disabled facilities grants w here final payments have been

made on the grant and certified.

(r) Revised 2012

Tudalen 42



Chart 1. Value of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants completed across Wales, 2008-
09 to 2010-11 under the 1996 Act (a)(b)

40.0
30.0
c
S
€
%2}
(Y]
20.0
10.0 \
2008-09 2009-10 (r) 2010-11 (r)

Source: Disabled Facility Grants return

(a) Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

(b) Only includes expenditure on completed disabled facilities grants w here final payments have been
made on the grant and certified.

(r) Revised 2012

Revisions

Please note some of the data shown has been revised since first published in August 2011,
following receipt of revised figures from two authorities. The changes are not deemed to be
significant and the revised data will be shown in the next statistical release due to be published
on 13th February 2012. However these minor amendments to the figures may be reflected in
the StatsWales tables prior to that next release. Revised data is marked with an (r). We also
follow the Welsh Government’s statistical revisions policy, details of which are available at:
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/publications/revisions/?lang=en.

Notes:

¢ A Disabled Facilities Grant is a grant for the provision of services for a disabled person
either in a dwelling or in the common parts of a building containing one or more flats.
Disabled Facilities Grants are paid by the local authority and can help towards the cost of
adapting a home to enable a disabled person to continue to live there. Examples of what a
Disabled Facilities Grant might be used for are:
1) Improving access to a room, for example widening doors or installing a stair lift;
2) Providing additional bathing, for example a level access shower;
3) Making preparation of food and cooking easier, for example by providing low level units.

e The payment of some Disabled Facilities Grants is mandatory under the Housing Grants,
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 as amended by the Regulatory Reform (Housing
Assistance) (England and Wales) order 2002. The amount of grant will depend on the cost
of the approved works and the homeowner's financial circumstances. The maximum grant
payable is £36,000 in Wales but a local authority may use its discretion to pay additional
costs if it chooses.

Tudalen 43



Eitem 7b

Carl Sargeant AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
Minister for Local Government and Communities

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref
Ein cyf/Our ref

Ann Jones AM,

Chair of the Communities, Equality
and Local Government

25 Kinmel Street

Rhyl

LL18 1AH

- -~
jM ey November 2012
AL

| am writing to you in relation to two sets of Regulations; the Council Tax Reduction
Schemes (Default Scheme) (Wales Regulations) and the Council Tax Reduction Schemes
(Prescribed Requirements) (Wales Regulations); in order to apprise you of the timing issues
that we are facing in respect of laying these Regulations.

As a result of these constraints, which | set out in detail below, and the significant impact for
local authorities if the Regulations are not able to come into force by 1% December, | am
writing to ask whether you would be prepared to agree a date upon which the Constitutional
and Legislative Affairs Committee will receive these Regulations for consideration and to
agree a further date by which the Committee will prepare its report in respect of the same.

The Local Government Finance Act 2012

As you are aware | sought amendments to the Local Government Finance Act (the Act) to
equip Welsh Ministers with executive powers {0 introduce council tax reduction schemes in
Wales via secondary legislation, in order to replace the existing council tax benefit system
that is being abolished by the UK Government. A Legislative Consent Motion on the
provisions of the Bill that were within the legislative comEetence of the National Assembly
for Wales (NAW) was approved by the Assembly on 26" June.

Whilst the Bill was supposed to achieve Royal Assent before the summer recess, it was
ultimately deferred due to a number of outstanding issues within the Bill, most of which did
not concern the provisions relating to the introduction of council tax reduction schemes. It
received Royal Assent on 1% November.

Bae Caerdydd = Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd = Cardiff Llinell ¥mholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Ccrrespondence.Carl.Sargeant@wales.gsi.gov.uk
Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu ( 100%) Printed on 100% recycled paper

Tudalen 44



In line with the provisions in the Act and, subject to the will of Parliament, | intend to bring
forward two main sets of Regulations which will govern the operation of council tax
reduction schemes in Wales. These Regulations are designed to ensure that councils
introduce some form of council tax support.

= The first set of Regulations (the “prescribed requirements Regulations”) will place a duty
upon local authorities in Wales to introduce a council tax reduction scheme in their area
by the 318! January 2012. These Regulations will prescribe elements which local
authorities must include within the schemes they introduce, but will also permit a limited
amount of local discretion.

= The second set of Regulations (the "default scheme Regulations”) will set out in full the
council tax reduction scheme that will take effect in any local authority area in the event
that a local authority does not adopt its own scheme by 31% January 2013. This date has
been set so that any reductions enabled by the schemes can be reflected within the
calculation of council tax liability prior to the council tax bills for 2013-12014 being
issued.

Timing Concerns

In order for local authorities to make their preparations to adopt their local schemes by 31%
January 2013, which, in accordance with the prescribed requirements Regulations, they are
required to consult on, it is considered necessary that both sets of Regulations will have to
come into force by 1% December. As both sets of Regulations are subject to the affirmative
procedure this requires there to be a plenary debate on them by the 27" November at the
latest.

However for a plenary debate to be held on the 27" November, in order to comply with
Standing Orders the latest date that the Regulations could be laid on is 6" November and
due to circumstances outside of my control it is becoming increasingly likely that the
Regulations will not be finalised by the 6" November. The reasons for this are:

= The financial transfer. The approach in Wales relies on a single national framework
scheme, which rebates a maximum percentage of an applicant's council tax liability, and
the maximum percentage rebate will be calculated to take into account the shortfall in
funding provided by the UK Government. This maximum percentage figure must be
specified within the Regulations. However, whilst DWP and HMT have provided
provisional funding figures, the transfer may not be finalised until the Autumn Statement
scheduled for 5 December. Therefore the actual shortfall — and the final percentage to
be set in the Regulations — might not be known until this date.

= Finalising the Regulations. Preparing the Regulations has been a highly complex and
demanding task requiring detailed knowledge of the UK benefit system. It has therefore
been necessary to rely on many of the previous elements of the old Council Tax Benefit
Regulations, and to replicate them, with amendments, in new Regulations. The
Regulations also need to take account of the introduction of Universal Credit, which is
being developed by central government. To assist in developing the technical aspects of
the scheme, such as the method to be adopted in calculating income, my officials have
had to have regard to the draft Regulations which England are preparing, as they have
the benefit of the input of colleagues in DWP. In order to finalise the Wales Regulations
my officials had hoped to see finalised versions of the England Regulations by the end of
October however, these have been delayed.

Tudalen 45



Implications if the Regulations cannot come into force by 15! December

If it is not possible for the Regulations to come into force by the 1% December there will be
significant adverse implications for local authorities, and potentially for claimants. It will
reduce the time in which local authorities will be required to introduce their schemes,
including the time available to undertake local consultation, and depending on when the
Regulations come into force, it may prove impossible for them to meet the 31% January
2013 deadline.

In that instance it may be necessary to revisit the Regulations with a view to delaying this
implementation date. This however, will impact on the authorities’ ability to issue council tax
bills which has severe financial implications for local authorities. Furthermore it is likely to
mean that current CTB claimants who will experience a change in the level of assistance
they receive with their council tax bills will have less notification of the financial impact. As a
result | am extremely keen to avoid a situation whereby these Regulations have to be
delayed.

Mitigating the timing issues

| have sought advice on how the timing issues could be mitigated and have been advised
that if the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee was prepared to agree in
advance a date upon which the Committee will receive and consider the Regulations, after
the 6" November, and the date by which the Committee will prepare its report, then a later
laying date could be achieved as in that instance it would not be necessary to observe the
20 day period before the holding of the plenary debate. In order to assist the Committee in
considering these Regulations my officials would be happy to provide a technical briefing.

While | recognise that this is an unusual request, given the significant challenges we are
facing in ensuring a viable replacement scheme is in place prior to the abolition of council
tax benefit, | hope that it is one that you are prepared to consider.

Welsh Language Regulations

Finally | would like to give you prior notice that Welsh language versions of the Regulations
will not be produced and that this may extend to all of the Regulations drafted to bring the
new schemes into effect.

While this is extremely regrettable, given the very short timescales within which it has been
necessary to produce the draft Regulations together with their length and complexity and
the fact that the current CTB Regulations are only available in English so there is no existing
translation to assist the translators, Legislative Translation Services have advised my
officials that it is not possible to translate the Regulations into Welsh within the timescales
required. In fact | am advised that in order for the Legislative Translation Services to have
been in a position to have provided translated version of the Regulations, due to their length
and complexity they would have had to have received finalised versions of both sets of
Regulations by the May 2012. At that time we had not secured powers within the Bill to
introduce Regulations in Wales.

The use of an external translator has also been considered, however there are only a
limited number of translators who undertake legislative translation and they too are unable
to translate the Regulations into Welsh within the timescales required. My officials will
discuss the possibility of one of the local authorities in Wales providing a Welsh translation
of the Regulations for everyday use, but even if they are willing to do this it is unlikely that
such a translated version of the Regulations would be finalised before next year.

Tudalen 46



| will also be writing in similar terms to the Chair of the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs

Committee.
2
O\/ ,/\

Carl Sargeant AC/ AM
Y Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
Minister for Local Government and Communities

Tudalen 47



Eitem 7cC

Y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol Cynulliad
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee geﬂmerﬂaethol
y
National
Carl Sargeant AM Assembly for

. . Wales
Minister for Local Government and Communities

Welsh Government JF/
5th Floor, Ty Hywel %
Cardiff Bay
CF99 TNA

9 November 2012

Dear Carl

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) Wales Regulations
and the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Wales
Regulations

Thank you for your letter of 5 November about the above Regulations.

| appreciate the difficulties you face as you have outlined in your letter. We
will always endeavour to work flexibly to assist the Welsh Government and,
as such, to consider Statutory Instruments in a shorter period than the 20
days set by standing orders (particularly where the instrument in question is
short or we have considered it in draft). However, we must also balance this
approach against our obligations to scrutinise legislation effectively and in an
open and transparent way.

| understand that each set of Regulations is some 200 pages long and, as you
indicate in your letter, that they are complex in nature. Furthermore, it is not

expected that the Regulations will be laid before the National Assembly until

the 15 or 16 November.

Regrettably, for these reasons, | cannot guarantee that the Committee will be
in a position to consider and report on these Regulations within the
timeframe proposed by your letter.

Bae Caerdydd
Caerdydd
CF99 1NA

Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF99 TNA

Ffon / Tel: 029 2089 8154
E-bost / Email: olga.lewis@wales.gov.uk

Croesewir gohebiaeth yny Gquéglﬂ'aaieﬁg@@welcome correspondence in both English and Welsh



Nevertheless, please be assured that as soon as the Regulations are laid
before the National Assembly, they will be reviewed and brought to the
attention of the Committee as soon as possible.

| am copying this letter to the Chair of the Communities, Equality and Local

Government Committee.

Yours sincerely

M A /\/L/Mr:‘>

David Melding AM
Chair

Tudalen 49



	Agenda
	2 Bil Safleoedd Rheoleiddiedig Cartrefi Symudol (Cymru): Cyfnod 1 - Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2
	5 Bil Atal Twyll Tai Cymdeithasol: Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol
	Legal Advice Note

	6 Blaenraglen Waith y Pwyllgor
	7 Papurau i'w nodi
	7a CELG(4)-27-11 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a Threftadaeth yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 18 Hydref
	7b CELG(4)-27-12 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
	7c CELG(4)-27-12 - Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol

